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I. INTRODUCTION

1. Complainant Varidesk LLC (“Varidesk” or “Complainant”) requests that the

United States International Trade Commission (“the Commission”) institute an investigation into

violations of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, by Brunswick

Corp., including its Life Fitness business unit (“Brunswick” or “Resp0ndent”).

2. This Complaint is based on Respondent’s unlawful and unauthorized importation

into the United States, sale for importation, and/or sale within the United States after importation

of height-adjustable desk platforms and components thereof that infringe, either literally or under

the doctrine of equivalents, at least one or more claims of U.S. Patent No. 9,113,703 (“the ’703

patent”). A certified copy of the ’703 patent is attached as Exhibit 1.

3. The ’703 patent relates to height-adjustable desk platform structures and

assemblies._Respondent infringes, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, at least the

claims ofthe ’703 patent listed in the chart below (independent claim is bolded):

U.S. Patent N0. | Asserted Claims
9,113,703 | 1,2-4, 6, and9- 11

4. The ’703 patent is a valid and enforceable United States Patent, the entire right,

title, and interest to which Varidesk owns by assignment. Certified copies of the assignment

records are attached as Exhibits 2-3.

5. Complainant has an existing domestic industry under 19 U.S.C. § l337(a)(3)(A)

(C) through its investments in plant, equipment, labor, capital, and exploitation relating to

articles protected by the asserted patent. ln the alternative, Complainant has a domestic industry

in the process of being established because it is taking the necessary tangible steps to establish
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such an industry in the United States, and there is a significant likelihood that the domestic

industry requirement will be met in the future.

6. Respondent’s activities with respect to the importation into the United States, the

sale for importation into the United States, and/or the sale within the United States after

importation of certain height-adjustable desks described more fully infra, are unlawful under l9

U.S.C. § l337(a)(l)(B)(i) in that they constitute infringement of the valid and enforceable ’703

patent.

7. Complainant seeks relief from the Commission in the form of a limited exclusion

order excluding from entry into the United States height-adjustable desk platforms and

components thereof that infringe the ‘703 patent. Complainant further seeks a cease and desist

order halting Respondent from conducting any of the following activities in the United States:

importing, selling, marketing, advertising, distributing, transferring (except for exportation), and

soliciting U.S. agents or distributors for, height-adjustable desk platforms and components

thereof covered by one or more of claims of the ’703 patent.

II. THE PARTIES

A. Complainant

8. Complainant Varidesk LLC is a Texas limited liability corporation having its

headquarters at ll7 Wrangler Drive, Coppell, Texas 75019.

9. Varidesk is a pioneer and world leader in the field of height-adjustable desk

technology. Each of Varidesk’s products provide a stable, sleek, ergonomic height-adjustable

desk that allows users to securely position their work surfaces at different heights.

10. The ‘703 patent and the Varidesk products were born of necessity. The inventor,

Daniel Flaherty, was suffering from sciatica (an inflammation of the sciatic nerve), which made

sitting for long periods painful. He experimented with conventional solutions, including a costly

4



specialized chair, but they were not particularly effective. After researching possible solutions,

he learned that periodically standing during the work day could alleviate the pain caused by the

sciatica. Standing was also recognized as way to promote good health generally by increasing

circulation and decreasing the chances of developing diseases of the circulatory system.

11. When researching desks that allowed users to work while standing, he discovered

that the available offerings had limitations. Most significant was the fact that most such items

were large, stationary, and relatively difficult to assemble, install, and position. Another

significant barrier was the high price point of the available offerings. These factors led Mr.

Flaherty to recognize the need for a height-adjustable desk platform that overcame these

obstacles, and to invent the device that is currently embodied in Varidesk products, as described

in more detail below.

12. The Varidesk product was first commercialized through Gemmy Industries

Corporation, of which Mr. Flaherty is an owner. The products embodying the ‘703 patent

inventions were well-received almost immediately, and the market for the Varidesk products

grew rapidly. '

13. In addition to market success, the Varidesk products were recognized for their

innovative designs. In 2013, for example, shortly after introduction, a Varidesk product was

awarded Buildings Magazine’s 2013 Product Innovations Grand Prize award in the fumiture

systems category. Exhibit 4. The Varidesk product was also awarded the 2013 Best of NeoCon

Silver award honoring new commercial interiors products from among 39 different product

categories and more than 320 individual products. Exhibit 4.

I4. On July 1, 2Oi14,Gemmy Industries Corp. spun the Varidesk business off into

Complainant Varidesk LLC. Mr. Flaherty is an owner of Varidesk LLC and remains actively
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involved in its business.

15. Varidesk presently employs about 63 people, primarily in Varidesk’s Coppell,

Texas headquarters. \/aridesk’s operations include research, development, engineering, design,

prototyping, and warranty service and repair of its height-adjustable desks. A company profile of

Varidesk is attached as Exhibit 5.

B. Respondent ‘

16. Complainant is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that Respondent

Brunswick is a Delaware corporation with its headquarters at 1 North Field Coun, Lake Forest,

Illinois.

17. Complainant is further informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that

Respondent is in the business of developing, manufacturing and selling height-adjustable desk

platforms and components thereof.

18. Respondent markets the height-adjustable desk platforms and components thereof

to consumers in the United States through its established sales channels, including through its

Life Fitness division.

19. Brunswick imports into the United States, sells for importation, and/or sells

within the United States after importation from China if not elsewhere certain height-adjustable

desk platforms and components thereof that infringe the ‘703 patent.

20. Additional corporate information regarding Brunswick is attached as Exhibit 6

(Brunswick, Inc. Form 10-K Annual Report). Additional information about Brunswick’s Life

Fitness division, including its manufacturing, sales, marketing, and distribution activities, is

provided in Exhibit 6 at p. 3.
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III. THE PRODUCTS AT ISSUE

23. Brunswick’s infringing products include at least the following representative

height~adjustable desk model: INMOVMENT ELEVATE DESKTOP DT2 (the “Brunswick

Infringing Products”). See Exhibit 7 (product manuals for the Brunswick Infringing Products).

24. The Brunswick Infringing Products are imported into and sold within the United

States by or on behalf of Respondent. On information and belief, commercially significant

volumes of the infringing products are maintained in inventory by Respondent in the United

States. _

IV. THE ASSERTED PATENT

A. Identification of the Patent and Ownership bv Varidesk

25. Varidesk owns by assignment the entire right, title, and interest in the ’703 patent

entitled “Adjustable Desk Platform,” which issued on August 25, 2015. Exhibit 1.

26. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2l0.l2(a)(9)(ii), a certified copy of the recorded

assignment of the ’703 patent to Varidesk is attached as Exhibit 2, and certified copies of all

other recorded assignments of the asserted patent are attached as Exhibit 3. Varidesk is the full

title holder and owner of the asserted patent. Only Varidesk has the right to sue as to the asserted

patent, and there are no security interests in the ‘703 Patent. * '

27. Pursuant to Commission Rule 21().l2(c), a certified copy and three additional

copies of the prosecution histories of the ’703 patent, as well as four copies of the applicable

pages from each technical reference cited in the prosecution history, are attached as Appendices

A and B, respectively. .

B. Foreign Counterparts to the ’703Patent

28. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2l0.l2(a)(9)(v), Complainant submits the attached

list of foreign patents, foreign patent applications (not already issued as a patent), and each
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foreign patent application that has been denied, abandoned, or withdrawn corresponding to the

’703 patent. See Exhibit 8. _

C. Non-Technical Description of the ’703 Patent

29. The ‘703 patent relates generally to a novel adjustable desk platform to allow a

user to move seamlessly from sitting to standing position. Pivot anns allow the desk platform to

move between fully raised and fully lowered positions. One or more locking mechanisms allows

the desk platform to be positioned at various heights between fully raised and fully lowered

positions. Innovativekeyboard support assemblies provide additional functionality.

D. Licensees

30. No licenses to the ‘703 Patent have been granted by Varidesk.

V. THE DOMESTIC INDUSTRY

21. There is a domestic industry as defined under 19 U.S.C. § l337(a)(3)(A), (B),

and/or (C), comprising continuing significant investments in plant and equipment, employment

of labor and capital, and substantial investment in exploitation of the ‘703 patent. ln the

altemative, Complainant has a domestic industry in the process of being established because it is

taking the necessary tangible steps to establish such an industry in the United States, and there is

a significant likelihood that the domestic industry requirement will be met in the future.

A. C0mplainant’s Investments in the Domestic Industry ,

31. Complainant engages in a broad range of qualifying domestic industry activities

in the United States directed to articles protected by the ‘703 patent. These articles include the

PRO, PRO PLUS, LAPTOP, and CUBE series product lines (the “Domestic Industry Products”).

Each Domestic Industry Product has the same or similar base, linkage, locking, and work surface

features. As discussed below, the Domestic Industry Products each practice at least one valid

claim ofthe ‘703 patent.
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32. Complainant has made and continues to make significant and substantial

investments in plant and equipment with respect to the Domestic Industry Products that practice

the ‘703 patent. Those investments are dedicated to research, design, development, engineering,

product support, prototyping, manufacturing support, and warranty service and repair focused on

the Domestic Industry Products.

33. Complainant has made and continues to make significant and substahtial

investments in labor and capital with respect to the Domestic Industry Products. Those

investments in labor and capital are dedicated to research, design, development, engineering,

product support, prototyping, manufacturing support, and warranty service and repair focused on

the Domestic Industry Products. I

34. Complainant further engages in exploitation of the ‘703 patent through its

substantial domestic investments in engineering and research and development activities directed

to the Domestic Industry Products that practice ‘703 patent. These activities include, inter alia,

engineering, research and development, and design tied to the claimed technology implemented

in the Domestic Industry Products. These activities have occurred in the past and are ongoing

with respect to future versions of Complainant’s products cun'ently under development.

35. Complainant’s activities directed to the Domestic Industry Products take place

and have taken place almost entirely at its Coppell, Texas headquarters.

36. Complainant’s investments and activities are significant and substantial in

absolute [€l’l"l‘1Sand relative to Complainant’s overall operations, taking into account the nature of

such expenditures. '

37. Complainant’s investments and activities are important to the protected articles,

particularly where the protected articles are substantially conceived, designed, developed,
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prototyped, tested, serviced and repaired domestically. Moreover, Complainant’s investments

and activities are significant and substantial in the context of comparable products, the

company’s overall investments, and the relevant marketplace.

38. The activities described above are explained in detail in the Declaration of David

Patton, Director of Industrial Design at Varidesk, attached as Exhibit 9C (Confidential). The

investments described above are set forth in the Declaration of Craig Storey, Chief Financial

Officer at Varidesk, attached as Exhibit 10C (Confidential).

B. Complainant’s Practice of the ‘703Patent

39. Complainant’s products practice numerous claims of the ‘703 patent. A claim

chart showing at least one representative claim of the ‘703 patent practiced by at least one

Domestic Industry Product is attached as Exhibit ll. Additional information about this product

is provided in Exhibit 17, which is a printout of material available from Varidesk’s website.

VI. SPECIFIC INSTANCES OF IMPORTATION AND SALE

40. Respondent imports, sells for importation, and/or sells within the United States

after importation infringing height-adjustable desk platforms and components thereof. The

specific instances of importation of infringing height-adjustable desks set forth below are

illustrative and non-exhaustive examples of the Respondent’s unlawful importation of infringing

products.

41. The Brunswick Infringing Products are manufactured outside the United States by

or at the direction of Respondent in China as indicated on the products’ packaging and labels.

See Exhibit 12.

42. The Brunswick Infringing Products are then imported into the United States by or

on behalf of, sold for importation into the United States by or on behalf of, and/or sold within the

United States after importation by or on behalf of Respondent. For example, an exemplary Life
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Fitness INMOVEMENT ELEYATE DESKTOP DT2 was sold in the United States on

September 30, 2015, as shown on Exhibit l3 (Receipt), and fulfilled by an entity in Dallas, Texas

called Fitness Headquarters/Dallas. That same product continues to be advertised for sale on

Respondent’s website. Exhibit 14.

43. Photographs of exemplary Brunswick Infringing Products offered for saleby and

purchased from a retailer in the United States are attached as Exhibit I5.

44. Complainant believes that the Brunswick Infringing Products fall under one or

more of the following classifications of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule (“HTS”) of the United

States: 9403.60.8081. This HTS identification is illustrative and not exhaustive. The

identification is not intended to limit the scope of the Investigation, nor is it intended to restrict

the scope of any exclusion order or other remedy ordered by the Commission.

VII. UNLAWFUL AND UNFAIR ACTS COMMITTED BY THE
RESPONDENT

45. The Respondent unlawfully sells for importation, imports, and/or sells after

importation into the United States certain height-adjustable desks that infringe the ‘703 patent.

Based on information discovered through investigation, the Respondent infringes, literally or

under the doctrine of equivalents, at least independent claim 1 and dependent claims 2 - 4, 6, and

9-l l. A claim chart showing the asserted claims of the ‘703 patent practiced by the Brunswick

Infringing Products is attached as Exhibit I6.

46. Respondent infringes the ‘703 patent pursuant to at least 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). The

Brunswick Infringing Products infringe upon their importation into the United States.

Respondent directly infringes ‘703 patent at least by ‘offering for sale and/or selling the

infringing articles in the United States.
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VIII. RELATED LITIGATION

47. The ’703 patent is currently the subject of patent litigation in the United States

District Court for the Northern District of Texas. Complainant filed suit against Brunswick on

September 25, 2015, alleging that Brunswick is liable for infringement of the ‘703 patent

pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271. The case number is 3:15-cv-03120-L.

48. There are no other litigations or administrative proceedings related to the subject

matter ofthis Complaint.

IX. RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Complainant respectfully requests that the

United States International Trade Commission:

(a) institute an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as

amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to Respondent’s violations of that

section based on the importation into the United States, sale for importation,

and/or the sale within the United States after importation of Respondent’s

products that infringe the asserted patent;

(b) set a target date of no more than fifteen months;

(c) schedule and conduct a hearing on permanent relief pursuant to 19

U.S.C. § 1337(c) for the purposes of receiving evidence and hearing argument

concerning whether there has been a violation of Section 337, and following the

hearing, to determine that there has been a violation of Section 337;

(d) issue a limited exclusiongorder, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d) forbidding entry

into the United States of Respondent’s height-adjustable desks that infringe one or

more claims ofUnited States Patent No. 9,113,703;
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issue a cease and desist order, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f), prohibiting the

Respondent and its related companies or divisions from conducting any of the

following activities in the United States: importing, selling, marketing,

advertising, distributing, transferring (except for exportation), and soliciting U.S.

agents or distributors for, height-adjustable desk platfonns and components

thereof covered by one or more of claims of United States Patent No. 9,113,703;

issue such other and further relief as the Cormnission deems just and proper under

the law, based upon the facts determined by the investigation and the authority of

the Commission.

Dated October 2, 2015 Respectfully submitted,

Gtfiww
AdamR.Hess \J
Andrew F. Pratt
Martin L. Saad
Calvin R. Nelson
VENABLE LLP
575 7th Street, NW
Washington, DC 20004
Telephone: (202) 344-4389
Facsimile: (202) 344-8300

Counselfor VarideskLLC
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